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Karin M. Gunter, Esquire 
PA ID No. 79852 
Law Office of Karin M. Gunter 
85 Old Cedarbrook Road      
Wyncote, PA 19095       ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF,  
(215) 548-9992        KIM P. GUNTER    
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
 
KIM P. GUNTER,    : 
519 Ramsey Road    : 
Oreland, PA 19075    :  
  Plaintiff   : Civil Action No.: 
      :   
 v.     :  
      : 
DREXEL UNIVERSITY,   : 
3141 Chestnut Street    : 
Philadelphia, PA 19104   :   
  Defendant.   : 
  

 
COMPLAINT 

 
Preliminary Statement 

 
 Plaintiff Kim P. Gunter is a seasoned privacy and compliance officer with more than 

twenty years of experience with multiple top tier employers.  She has worked with a diverse 

array of direct reports enjoying productive professional relationships, leading her teams to 

quality program development, investigations, and results. After two failed searches by Defendant 

Drexel University for a Vice President and Chief Compliance, Privacy and Internal Audit Officer 

between January 2018 and June 2019, Plaintiff successfully competed and attained the position 

effective July 2019, after a “comprehensive national search,” based on her “exceptionally strong 

project management and leadership skills, as well as her experience building compliance 

programs and implementing policies, controls and trainings.”  In the four years since her hiring, 

Plaintiff with her team of direct reports in the Compliance and Privacy departments have been 
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able to provide much needed leadership to the University and through these disciplines.   

 However, with respect to the Internal Audit department, Plaintiff made multiple reports to 

her immediate supervisor and the Audit Committee, Board of Trustees chair (both of whom are 

Caucasian) of discrimination, hostile work environment, retaliation and insubordination by a 

Caucasian direct report, Plaintiff’s subordinate, starting in August 2019.  As a result of executive 

management’s failure to respond to known discrimination, retaliation and hostile work 

environment caused by the Caucasian direct report, Plaintiff suffered anxiety, depression, and 

was taken out of work for short-term disability and FMLA leave.  Upon return from such leave 

in November 2022 and for the first time, Plaintiff’s immediate supervisor gave Plaintiff a 

performance evaluation calling into question Plaintiff’s character and professionalism.   

 Despite assurances of their support and resolution, both Plaintiff’s immediate supervisor 

and the Audit Committee chair failed to take any actions to correct the situation until December 

2022, when the Caucasian direct report was promoted to reporting directly to Plaintiff’s 

immediate supervisor, thereby removing Internal Audit and its annual budget from Plaintiff’s 

management without assigning any other reporting departments to her.  By doing so, Plaintiff’s 

total annual budget under management was reduced by nearly 60%, which changed the very 

nature of the position Plaintiff applied for.  That is, Plaintiff now oversees the Office of 

Compliance, Policy and Privacy Services, which alters her overall strategic management of risk 

for the university; impacts the financial value of her office university wide; and professionally 

significantly limits and reduces her professional growth, progression and expertise at Drexel. 

 This action is brought by an employee against her employer for discrimination based on 

race/color in violation of Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. §1981, as amended by the Civil 

Rights Act of 1991 (“Section 1981”) for disparate treatment, retaliation, and hostile work 
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environment.  Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages, attorney’s fees, expert fees, 

costs and such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 
 

1. Original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal question claims is conferred upon this 

Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.  

2. Venue lies in this district by 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) in that all actions 

complained of occurred and Defendant resides in this district. 

Parties 
 

3. Plaintiff KIM P. GUNTER (“Plaintiff” or “Gunter”) is an adult person and a citizen 

of the United States.    

4. Defendant DREXEL UNIVERSITY (“Drexel” or “University”) is a private, non-

profit institution of higher learning with more than 500 employees.  

Underlying Facts 
 

5. After Drexel conducted a “comprehensive national search,” Plaintiff successfully 

competed and attained the position of Vice President and Chief Compliance, Privacy and Internal 

Audit Officer (VP CPIA) at Drexel effective July 8, 2019. 

6. Before hiring Plaintiff, Drexel conducted two failed searches to fill the VP CPIA 

position. 

7. The VP CPIA position at Drexel remained unfilled from on or about January 2018 

until July 8, 2019. 

8. Drexel selected Plaintiff for its VP CPIA position based on her “exceptionally strong 

project management and leadership skills, as well as her experience building compliance 

programs and implementing policies, controls and trainings.”   
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9. Plaintiff is an African American, black adult. 

10. Plaintiff is qualified for the position of VP CPIA. 

11. Helen Y. Bowman (“Bowman”) is Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief 

Operating Officer at Drexel. 

12. Bowman is Plaintiff’s immediate supervisor. 

13. Bowman is Caucasian/white. 

14. Ed Longazel (“Longazel”) is the immediate past VP CPIA at Drexel from on or about 

February 2015 to December 2017, until his retirement. 

15. Bowman was Longazel’s immediate supervisor. 

16. Longazel is Caucasian/white. 

17. Bill Shea (“Shea”) is Associate Vice President, Chief Audit Executive at Drexel. 

18. Shea is Caucasian/white. 

19. Plaintiff was Shea’s immediate administrative supervisor from July 8, 2019 until on 

or about December 2022, when Drexel removed Internal Audit from Plaintiff’s management and 

promoted Shea to reporting directly to Bowman. 

20. Shea and the internal audit team members, at all times during Plaintiff’s employment 

up to December 2022, were Plaintiff’s subordinates. 

21. Longazel was Shea’s immediate administrative supervisor from February 2015 to 

December 2017. 

22. Michael J. Williams (“Williams”) is Chair of the Audit Committee, Board of Trustees 

(“Audit Committee”) at Drexel. 

23. Williams is Caucasian/white. 

24. The Audit Committee has operational oversight of Internal Audit and Shea regarding 
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audit work product. 

Count I 
Hostile Work Environment                                                       Race, Color – Discrimination 

25. Plaintiff re-avers and incorporates by reference the averments in all paragraphs, 

supra. 

26. As VP CPIA, Plaintiff led and managed Compliance, Privacy and Internal Audit 

budgets totaling nearly $2.0 million for fiscal year 2020, her first year in the position. 

27. The budgets include salary and non-salary expenses for each department. 

28. As VP CPIA, Plaintiff had the following responsibilities related to the Internal Audit 

department: 

a. administrative oversight of hiring, firing and promoting its employees, and 

university-wide audit special projects, programs and assignments;  

b. management of its budget; 

c. preparation and review of Shea’s annual performance evaluation; 

d. approval of leave time for Shea; 

e. securing office space for department as a result of new office space for team; 

f. regular group team meetings for all Office of Compliance, Privacy and Internal 

Audit (“OCPIA”) teams;  

g. annual meetings with each individual OCPIA team member; inter alia,  

29. With respect to Compliance and Privacy, Plaintiff oversees all ongoing work product 

related to the development, implementation, maintenance of, and adherence to Drexel’s policies 

and procedures covering privacy of and access to sensitive information in compliance with 

federal, state and local regulatory requirements, and to Drexel’s Code of Conduct, Conflict of 

Interest program, and Compliance Hotline program. 
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30. The sensitive information includes student and patient information, inter alia.    

31. As VP CPIA, Plaintiff’s management leadership team included Shea. 

32. From the beginning of her employment at Drexel, Plaintiff excelled in the position as 

VP CPIA including, but not limited to: 

a. spearheading significant reporting to federal and state governments of breaches 

impacting patient/student information;  

b. notification to impacted persons of such breaches;  

c. responses to federal and state government audits and reviews;  

d. implementation of compliance and policy programs;  

e. creation of University compliance and privacy plans;  

f. OCPIA reorganization;  

g. implementation of Drexel’s first policy review and compliance program;  

h. design and implementation of Drexel’s first Compliance Risk Assessment;  

i. revamped Drexel’s Compliance Hotline program;  

j. developed Drexel’s monthly compliance newsletter with a monthly blog; and  

k. worked closely with the University’s Office of General Counsel for contracting 

vendors to assist with compliance and privacy work, reviewing contracts, advice on 

interpretation of laws regarding breaches and other incidents, and for incident handing and 

investigations, inter alia. 

33. Equally, from the beginning of her employment at Drexel, Plaintiff experienced 

persistent and repeated insubordination from Shea and the internal audit team including, but not 

limited to: 

a. August 2019, Shea excluded Plaintiff from the interview process and hired 
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Michael D’Arco (“D’Arco”)(Caucasian/white) as Executive Director, Internal Audit without 

getting Plaintiff’s prior approval from a management oversight perspective; 

b. August – September 2019, Plaintiff put in place an initiative to streamline the 

OCPIA’s website to produce more efficiency and ease of use by the University community. Shea 

resisted Plaintiff’s directives to provide updates to Internal Audit information delaying the 

project by several weeks; 

c. In September 2019, during Plaintiff’s newly implemented OCPIA team meeting, 

Shea discussed whether he was “arrogant” based on a separate matter not involving the OCPIA 

team.  Plaintiff ended Shea’s inappropriate, impromptu monologue but not before it undermined 

her leadership of the team and OCPIA morale.  

d. September 2019, Plaintiff produced a 100-day report and three-year plan, which 

Shea challenged because it mentioned Internal Audit.  Williams, who saw nothing wrong with 

the report, had Plaintiff edit it based on Shea’s behavior; 

e. On October 16, 2019, Plaintiff learned Shea announced to the Dean, School of 

Engineering and Associate Vice President, Human Resources that he reports to Plaintiff 

administratively because “someone has to sign his time sheet;” 

f. Thereafter, Plaintiff informed Bowman of Shea’s conduct in resisting her 

authority and leadership and its impact on team moral;  

g. On December 19, 2019, Plaintiff allotted 2% merit increases to all OCPIA 

employees based on University wide budget pool.  Shea, without first getting approval from 

Plaintiff and without knowledge of executive management level directives, told Internal Audit 

employees they would get 3% merit increases, and argued with Plaintiff over the difference; 

h. On January 28, 2020, Plaintiff initiated the creation of an audit email box to 
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provide more consistency across OCPIA and to help the University community contact Internal 

Audit. The Compliance and Privacy departments already had email boxes.  Shea once again 

delayed the process before eventually creating the audit email box. 

i. On March 19, 2020, Plaintiff emailed her leadership team including Shea 

regarding the immediate COVID-19 shut down. Shea responded, “Why are you sending this 

text?” 

j.  On April 6, 2020, despite Shea’s consistent challenges to her authority, Plaintiff 

asked Shea, during her leadership team meeting, to serve as her proxy in the event she contracted 

COVID.  He once again challenged Plaintiff stating, he couldn’t be her “back up because I don’t 

do compliance.” At that time, Shea was the senior most OCPIA leadership team member.  Also 

present were Jamie Lindsay (“Lindsay”)(Caucasian/white), Director, Compliance Program 

Services and A. Tryphaena Hooper (“Hooper”)(African American), Director, Privacy Program 

Services; 

k. One week later, on April 13, 2020, at another OCPIA leadership team meeting, 

Shea told Plaintiff she needs to run things by him before Plaintiff communicates with the internal 

audit team.  This inappropriate demand came after Plaintiff discussed the OCPIA move at an 

office team meeting, which includes all employees of OCPIA;  

l. On April 16, 2020, at her one on one (1:1) meeting with Bowman, Plaintiff once 

again told Bowman of Shea’s continued resistance towards her authority and leadership; and  

m. On April 22, 2020, Plaintiff sent Bowman a follow-up email and written 

documentation of Shea’s continued hostile actions towards her.  Bowman failed to follow up 

with Plaintiff about any actions taken against Shea, inter alia. 

34. During her first year as VP CPIA, Plaintiff held bi-weekly 1:1 meetings with Shea. 
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35. Shea’s hostile actions towards Plaintiff and her authority/leadership over him and the 

Internal Audit department continued, when in a quarterly Audit Committee meeting, Shea 

complained that he should not be reporting to Plaintiff and internal audit should not be under 

Plaintiff’s administrative management. 

36. Thereafter on November 16, 2020, as a result of Shea’s complaints, Bowman emailed 

Plaintiff with a list of new titles for her position as Bowman was considering removing “Internal 

Audit” from VP CPIA title. 

37. Subsequently, Bowman changed Plaintiff’s job title to Vice President and University 

Chief Compliance and Privacy Officer (“VP CP”), which it remains today. 

38. After Plaintiff’s job title change, Williams told Plaintiff she did not need to meet with 

Shea as often as Compliance and Privacy, and to only meet with Shea for their 1:1 meetings once 

every one or two months. 

39. On December 14, 2020, while attending a “Working Through Social Identities 

Towards Empathy and Inclusion Workshop” given by the University’s Diversity and Inclusive 

Culture office, Plaintiff in the presence of Bowman commented that as a Black woman who is 

filing a role that had been filled by a white man, she is often treated differently.  Bowman did not 

comment or follow-up with Plaintiff after the workshop. 

40. Longazel, Shea’s prior administrative immediate supervisor, was not required to 

change the VP CPIA job title. 

41. In January 2021, Shea emailed Plaintiff in a communication that included Lindsay 

asking them to “change the heading to make it just Compliance and Privacy and take Internal 

Audit off because the Internal Audit department doesn’t have anything to do with this committee 

membership.  Also, Kim’s title should be updated” to remove internal audit from it. 
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42. Shea’s and the internal audit team continued to challenge and create hostile 

team/work environment for Plaintiff by failing to respond to Plaintiff’s team directives and 

making demands of Plaintiff regarding team meetings including challenging her 1:1 meetings of 

the internal audit team, inter alia, culminating on September 29, 2021, when D’Arco stated to 

Plaintiff during a virtual office team meeting she was “talking too fast” and her communications 

were “all over the place.”  D’Arco further stated Plaintiff needed to provide an agenda and 

challenged her annual 1:1 meetings with internal audit.  Shea said nothing to his direct report, 

D’Arco during this OCPIA meeting. 

43. On September 30, 2021, Plaintiff reported D’Arco’s and Shea’s hostile behavior 

towards her during the prior day’s office team meeting to Bowman, and expressed Plaintiff’s 

inability to provide performance reviews or recommend any merit increases for the internal audit 

team.  Bowman told Plaintiff she (Bowman) would follow up with Human Resources, meet with 

the internal audit team and that Shea will receive a “final warning”. (emphasis added) 

44. Bowman also expressed her unwillingness to move internal audit from Plaintiff’s 

responsibility since “the structure is in keeping with other universities and the intention is that 

there be collaboration.” 

45. Bowman in a September 30, 2021 email to Shea and the internal audit team stated “I 

will be setting up a meeting with myself, Xavier Johnson (“Johnson”) from Human Resources 

and internal audit to discuss issues that have occurred since Kim’s arrival that I view as 

unnecessary.  Prior to setting this meeting up, I am meeting with Mike Williams to again discuss 

this … ” (emphasis added) 

46. Bowman did not provide Plaintiff with a follow-up regarding Shea’s final warning 

status. 
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47. Shea’s hostile actions towards Plaintiff continued and heightened on June 3, 2022, 

when Shea sent an unsolicited email to Plaintiff titled “Clean Up Items Identified,” identifying, 

inter alia, Plaintiff’s job title (again) and items in her professional bio that “should be modified.”  

Plaintiff sent the email to Bowman. 

48. On June 6, 2022, after Plaintiff sent Bowman another email from Shea, Bowman says 

to Plaintiff to “wait 24 hours to speak to [Shea] because Plaintiff overreacted in her responses.” 

(emphasis added) 

49. For the first time, on July 26, 2022, Plaintiff learned from Johnson of a HR incident 

between D’Arco and Raffaele Fusca (“Fusca”)(Caucasian/white) and the completion of the HR 

investigation. Johnson informs Plaintiff that Shea should have told Plaintiff about the incident, 

though Shea did not. 

50. On July 27, 2022, at Bowman’s directive, Plaintiff emailed Shea to request a 

discussion regarding, inter alia, D’Arco’s behavior during an office team meeting earlier that 

day and the HR incident.  

51. During the call with Shea, Plaintiff requested information about the incident between 

D’Arco and Fusca.  Shea would not provide the information and stated to Plaintiff he would need 

HR to tell him he could give the information to Plaintiff. 

52. That same day, July 27, 2022, Plaintiff emailed Johnson to schedule a meeting with 

Bowman, Plaintiff and Johnson, which occurred on August 2, 2022. 

53. During the August 2, 2022 meeting, Bowman once again stated Shea needed a written 

final warning, and that Plaintiff should not have to deal with the stress of this relationship and 

that Plaintiff has been dealing with Shea’s behavior since she arrived at Drexel, inter alia. 

(emphasis added) 
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54. On August 8 and 9, 2022, Plaintiff told Johnson she wanted “documented, written 

details of [Shea’s] insubordination, race discrimination and creation of hostile work 

environment” and that she “cannot continue to have this stress.”  

55. On August 10, 2022, Johnson informed Plaintiff, upon her request, he would formally 

start an investigation into Shea. 

56. On August 17, 2022, Plaintiff again asked Johnson if there was an HR investigation 

of and any formal findings of Shea’s conduct. 

57. On August 18, 2022, Plaintiff was taken out of work by her doctor on a leave of 

absence (LOA) and Family Medical Leave (FMLA) until October 24, 2022, and informed her 

leadership team she would be “out of the office” for a while. 

58. On August 18, 2022, Plaintiff also emailed Johnson and the Director, HR Business 

Partner that she was “under a lot of stress” and [her] therapist asked for paperwork for short term 

disability and asked who she should contact for the documents.  The Director responded.  

59. Despite this, Johnson continued to email Plaintiff regarding the Shea matter on 

August 22, 23 and 25, 2022 including asking about her attendance at a meeting with Shea. 

60. Plaintiff was out of work for short term disability and FMLA from August 18, 2022 

to October 24, 2022 due to work related stress. 

61. Upon returning to the office, Plaintiff attended a scheduled office team meeting on 

October 26, 2022.  None of the internal audit members attended. 

62. On October 27, 2022, Plaintiff informed Bowman of the entire internal audit team’s 

absence from the office team meeting, and informed Bowman she could not provide a good 

performance evaluation for Shea. 

63. Bowman required Plaintiff to provide a performance evaluation for Shea, and 
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Plaintiff complied on or before October 31, 2022 or November 1, 2022. 

64. On October 31, 2022, Plaintiff again followed up with Johnson seeking the status of 

her HR complaint against Shea.  Plaintiff also included Kimberly Gholston (“Gholston”), Vice 

President and Chief Diversity Officer on the email. 

65. Plaintiff asked Shea if he wanted to discuss the performance evaluation, but Shea did 

not respond to Plaintiff. 

66. Johnson responded on November 1, 2022 stating he was not available until next week 

to discuss with Plaintiff a formal complaint against Shea.  Johnson also had not undertaken a 

formal complaint or investigation into Shea. 

67.  Though Johnson failed to start an HR investigation regarding Shea based on 

Plaintiff’s complaint, on November 3, 2022, Johnson scheduled a performance review discussion 

with Plaintiff, Shea and Johnson for November 8, 2022, which did not occur.   

68. On November 11, 2022, for the first time in her career at Drexel, Bowman called into 

question Plaintiff’s professionalism and character. 

69. Instead, Plaintiff, Shea and Johnson met on November 11, 2022 to discuss Shea’s 

performance evaluation but, once again, not Plaintiff’s HR complaint against Shea. 

70. Thereafter, Plaintiff informed Bowman that the meeting with Johnson and Shea did 

not go well. 

71. On November 13, 2022, Plaintiff again emailed Bowman noting her treatment by 

Shea, the internal audit team, and the lack of support by Bowman in addressing the same since 

Plaintiff’s arrival at Drexel.   

72. Between November 11, 2022 and November 18, 2022, Plaintiff sent a list of Shea’s 

pattern of harassment and hostile work environment treatment to Bowman, who then asked 
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Plaintiff to send the list to Johnson.  Johnson responded by thanking Plaintiff for “outlining” her 

“concerns” regarding Shea. 

73. On December 9, 2022, Johnson emailed informing Plaintiff he “worked with Helen 

and Mike” and that Shea would no longer report to Plaintiff administratively. Johnson further 

asked Plaintiff if she had time “to connect about finalizing your formal complaint.” 

74. On December 12, 2022, Bowman informed Plaintiff via email that the Compliance, 

Policy, Privacy and Internal Audit teams’ change in reporting structure. 

75. On January 11, 2023, for the first time since on or about August 8, 2022, Johnson 

finally meets with Plaintiff regarding her HR complaint against Shea.  At this time, Johnson 

informed Plaintiff her complaint of discrimination, harassment/hostile work environment, 

insubordination and other HR issues would go to outside counsel. 

76. Plaintiff had to follow up with Johnson on February 5, 2023 as she still had not heard 

from anyone regarding her complaint. 

77. On February 24, 2023, Plaintiff finally received an official letter of investigation from 

Johnson into her complaints against Shea. 

78. On March 1, 2023, Jesse Krohn (“Krohn”)(Caucasian/white) of Saul Ewing emailed 

Plaintiff identifying herself as the investigator for Plaintiff’s Equity and Inclusive Culture 

(“EIC”) complaint against Shea. 

79. Plaintiff actively participated in the outside investigation by meeting with Krohn, 

providing documents and information in support of her claims, inter alia, for the period from 

March 1, 2023 to April 11, 2023. 

80. Plaintiff subsequently learned during Krohn’s investigation that Krohn is a former 

employee of Drexel’s Office of Equality and Diversity as an investigator. 
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81. On May 9, 2023, Krohn emails Plaintiff a draft report with exhibits that were all the 

interview notes, and an excerpt from the EIC-1 that did not include findings or conclusions. 

82. On May 30, 2023, for the first time ever, Plaintiff received notice via an email that 

Shea filed an internal discrimination claim against Plaintiff based on his race as a “white man”. 

83. On June 7, 2023, Plaintiff receives the EIC-1 determination finding no discrimination 

based on race in violation of Drexel’s policies, inter alia.  There was no direct mention of the 

hostile work environment/harassment claims. 

84. At this time, Plaintiff learned her October 2022 performance evaluation of Shea was 

thrown out as an “outlier,” inter alia. 

85. On June 13, 2023, an outside investigator from the office of Jackson Lewis PC in 

Washington, DC, Carol Ashley (“Ashley”)(African American) contacted Plaintiff regarding the 

Shea discrimination complaint. 

86. At no time ever during Plaintiff’s employment at Drexel did anyone including, but 

not limited to, Bowman, Williams or any member of the various committees Plaintiff is/was a 

member of at Drexel, raise any complaints by Shea that Plaintiff treated him unfairly, in general 

and based on his race, in particular. 

87. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff avers Drexel violated Section 1981 and 

discriminated against her as follows: 

a. Plaintiff was subject to severe or pervasive conduct by Drexel that affected her 

ability to do her job. 

b. Drexel’s conduct by Bowman and Williams was influenced by Shea’s persistent 

hostile behavior towards Plaintiff and was not welcomed by Plaintiff. 

c. Drexel’s conduct was motivated by the fact that Plaintiff is an African American, 
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black person. 

d. Drexel’s conduct is so severe or pervasive that a reasonable person in Plaintiff’s 

position would find her work environment to be hostile or abusive. 

e. Plaintiff believes her work environment to be hostile or abusive is a result of 

Drexel’s supervisors Bowman’s and Williams’ conduct as well as direct report Shea’s actions. 

f. Plaintiff suffered an adverse tangible employment action as a result of the hostile 

work environment including, but not limited to, loss of total budgets under her management and 

removal of the Internal Audit department without assigning any other reporting departments to 

her resulting in emotional distress, inter alia. 

88. Plaintiff was subject to severe or pervasive conduct by Drexel that affected her ability 

to do her job. 

89. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff avers Drexel created a hostile work environment 

under Section 1981. 

Count II 
Disparate Treatment Race, Color – Discrimination 

90. Plaintiff re-avers and incorporates by reference the averments in all paragraphs, 

supra. 

91. Non-protected class (Caucasian/white) VP CPIA Longazel was treated more 

favorable by Drexel than Plaintiff including, but not limited to, permitting Shea to cause Drexel 

to change Plaintiff’s job title at the request of Shea and permitting Shea to cause Plaintiff to lose 

nearly 60% of the budget under her management by the removal of Internal Audit department 

from her administrative management responsibilities, inter alia. 

92. Drexel treated Longazel more favorably than Plaintiff by not placing Shea on 

progressive disciplinary actions including, but not limited to, final warnings after Plaintiff’s 
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numerous reporting of discrimination. 

93. Plaintiff as a protected class (African American, black) member was not being 

afforded the same terms and conditions of employment as non-protected class (Caucasian/white) 

VP CPIA Longazel due to Shea’s consistent and persistent attacks on Plaintiff including 

reporting complaints to the Audit Committee without Plaintiff’s presence or knowledge, dispute 

Bowman allegedly giving Shea written final disciplinary warnings due Shea’s treatment of 

Plaintiff. 

94. Drexel is vicariously liable for the actions of its supervisors Executive Vice President, 

Treasurer and Chief Operating Officer Bowman and Audit Committee, Board of Trustees Chair 

Williams, who treated similarly situated non-protected class (Caucasian/white) Longazel 

differently and more favorably than Plaintiff, a protected class (African American, black) VP 

CPIA due to Shea’s bias towards Plaintiff. 

95. Further, Drexel failed to provide Plaintiff with the same terms and conditions of 

employment when in failed to discipline Shea, despite Plaintiff’s numerous reports of his 

behavior to Bowman and Williams, who both assured Plaintiff if the choice was between 

Plaintiff and Shea, they would choose Plaintiff. 

96. Plaintiff suffered adverse employment actions when Drexel supervisors removed 

Internal Audit department from Plaintiff’s administrative management oversight, which 

significantly reduced the budget under Plaintiff’s management, and frustrated the stated purpose 

of the Plaintiff’s position being “the structure [having internal audit under the auspices of 

OCPIA] is in keeping with other universities and the intention is that there be collaboration.” 

97. Drexel’s continued to intentionally discriminate against Plaintiff based on race 

adversely affected Plaintiff’s employment since, her new reduced budget and offices under 
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management limits and reduces her professional growth, progression and expertise in the 

compliance, privacy and policy disciplines. 

98. Drexel’s intentional discriminatory conduct would have adversely   affected a 

reasonable person of the same protected class as Plaintiff. 

99. Drexel’s intentional discriminatory conduct toward Plaintiff as averred herein shows 

the existence of circumstances that give rise to an inference of prohibited discrimination.  

100. As a result of Drexel’s intentional discrimination, Plaintiff suffered injuries 

including, but not limited to, physical and emotional injuries, inter alia. 

101. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff avers Drexel violated Section 1981 based on 

disparate treatment. 

Count III 
Retaliation                                                                                  Race, Color -Discrimination 

102. Plaintiff re-avers and incorporates by reference the averments in all paragraphs, 

supra. 

103. Based on the allegations, supra, Plaintiff made numerous complaints and reports 

to Bowman and Williams about Shea during the periods from on or about April 2020 to the 

present based on race discrimination by Shea from August 2019 to the present. 

104. Plaintiff engaged in protected activities when she reported race discrimination to 

Johnson on or about August 8, 2022 to March 1, 2023, when Drexel finally contracted with an 

outside investigator to conduct an investigation of its internal policies, supra. 

105. On May 9, 2023, the outside investigator sent Plaintiff a draft report. 

106. On May 30, 2023, Plaintiff received notice Drexel allowed Shea to file a 

complaint of reverse discrimination against Plaintiff.  

107. As a result of participating in these protected activities, Drexel engaged in a 
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course of action including, but not limited to:  

a. maintaining a complaint of reverse race discrimination by Shea against Plaintiff 

when Plaintiff never received any performance evaluations, 1:1 meeting discussions or warnings 

by her Drexel supervisors of complaints or reports of unfair treatment of Shea and Shea 

demonstrated persistent bias towards Plaintiff;  

b. Bowman failed to issue written final warnings against Shea despite stating 

multiple times that she would in acknowledgment of Shea’s behavior towards Plaintiff;  

c. removal of internal audit from Plaintiff’s administrative management without 

assigning any other reporting department to her causing a significantly impact on Plaintiff 

professional growth, progression and expertise at the University and the industry at large; and 

d. causing significant emotional distress to Plaintiff resulting in her being taken out 

of work by her therapist/doctor in August 2022 and June 2023. 

108. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff avers Drexel retaliated against her in violation of 

Section 1981. 

 
       Respectfully submitted: 
 
       LAW OFFICE OF KARIN M. GUNTER 
 
 
Date: June 27, 2023   /s/ Karin M. Gunter  
        Karin M. Gunter, Esquire  
        PA Supreme Court Id: 79852  
        85 Old Cedarbrook Road  
        Wyncote, PA 19095 
        (215) 548-9992 
        Email: Kgunterlaw2@gmail.com 
        Counsel for Plaintiff 
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